
 

 

CABINET SUB-COMMITTEE 
Agenda 
 

Date Tuesday 30 August 2011 
 

Time 4.00 pm 
 

Venue Crompton Suite, Civic Centre, Oldham, West Street, Oldham, OL1 1NL 
 

Notes 
 

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST- If a Member requires any advice on 
any item involving a possible declaration of interest which could affect 
his/her ability to speak and/or vote he/she is advised to contact Paul 
Entwistle or Christine Chester in advance of the meeting. 
 
2. CONTACT OFFICER for this Agenda is Christine Chester Tel. 0161 770 
4710 or email Christine.chester@oldham.gov.uk   
 
3. PUBLIC QUESTIONS - Any member of the public wishing to ask a 
question at the above meeting can do so only if a written copy of the 
question is submitted to the contact officer by 12 noon, Wednesday 24th 
August 2011. 
 

  
  

 

Item No  

1   Apologies For Absence  

2   Urgent Business  

 Urgent business, if any, introduced by the Chair 

3   Declarations of Interest  

 To Receive Declarations of Interest in any Contract or matter to be discussed at 
the meeting. 

4   Public Question Time  

 To receive Questions from the Public, in accordance with the Council’s 
Constitution. 

5   Minutes of Previous Meeting (Pages 1 - 4) 

 The Minutes of the Cabinet Sub Committee held on 14th April 2011 are attached 
for approval. 

6   Land to the North of the Lancaster Club, Broadway, Failsworth (Pages 5 - 34) 

Public Document Pack



 

 

 The purpose of the report is to seek;  
- Confirmation as to whether the Trust wish to ask the Charity Commission to 
continue to make an Order in respect to the land immediately to the North of the 
Lancaster Club and;  
- Authority for Oldham Council to procure and enter onto the Trust land in order 
to carry out site investigations.  

 



CABINET SUB-COMMITTEE  
FAILSWORTH TRUST  
14/04/2011 at 5.00 pm 

 
 

Present: Councillors J Hulme and Masud 
 

1   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

There were no apologies for absence received.  

2   URGENT BUSINESS   

There were no items of urgent business received. 

3   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

Councillor Knox declared a personal and prejudicial in Item 6 of 
the agenda - Land to the North of the Lancaster Club, by virtue 
of her position as Cabinet Member when an Oldham Athletic 
Stadium Proposal report was considered by Cabinet on the 17th 
March 2010. Councillor Knox left the room during consideration 
of Item 5 Land to the North of the Lancaster Club, Broadway, 
Failsworth and took no part in voting thereon. 
 
Councillor J Hulme advised the Committee that although the 
Charity Commission considered that he had an interest, he had 
obtained advice from the Borough Solicitor and was no 
requirement for him to leave the meeting as the decision of the 
Charity Commission was subject to a review process, the 
decision of which was pending. 

4   PUBLIC QUESTION TIME   

The following Public questions were received from Warren 
Bates: 

1. After the damming report by the Charity Commission into the 
handling of the Lower Failsworth Memorial Land swap proposal 
it is evident that elected Members and those persons on the 
Standards and Audit Committee are incompetent and are not 
sufficiently able to make reasoned judgements, in effect not fit 
for purpose. I would ask therefore if they intend to resign, as 
their position is untenable?  

2. Are all Members fully aware that the Charity Commission has 
stipulated that any trust land that is for the benefit of the 
inhabitants of a specific area could only be swapped with land 
that could serve those same inhabitants? 

3. The Failsworth Trust Committee now have a responsibility to 
raise funds to develop the land, therefore, could the Committee 
confirm that they are to seek funding from every available 
source to enable the land to be suitably developed? 

4. Are the Failsworth Trust Committee members going to liaise 
forthwith with the local beneficiaries on their wishes on how to 
develop the ground in accordance with the Trust requirements? 

Agenda Item 5

Page 1



5. Could I be informed of the steps that are to be taken to enable 
wheelchair user access throughout the site?  

6. Is the Failsworth Trust Committee to consider requesting local 
residents to become members of the Failsworth Trust 
Committee? 

7. Could the Members of the Failsworth Trust Committee inform 
me if the payment for the pylon is subject to a wayleave 
payment or an easement payment and the amount of payment 
received? 

8. Would the Committee consider raising funds that would allow 
them to purchase the land and property to the north of the Trust 
Land (the former Lancaster Club) from is present owners to 
enable the site to be incorporated into trust land which could be 
developed into a social club come visitor centre, together with 
providing additional much needed activity facilities for the area? 

9. Is the Committee intending to request the Council to donate 
the land they own adjacent to the Trust Land that fronts 
Broadway so that it could be incorporated into the Trust Land 
enabling this to be developed into a attractive gateway into 
Oldham? 

Councillor Masud, Chair of the Cabinet sub-Committee 
responded with the following answers: 

1. The Trust would challenge the statement that the response 
from the Charity Commission was in any way “damning”. 
2. Records show that Failsworth UDC acquired land, "in the 
Lower Ward", for the purposes of a recreation ground.  Neither 
the 1924 Conveyance, nor the minute of the General Purposes 
Committee of Failsworth UDC dated 15th August 1923 (which 
authorises the Council to accept the gift of the land from 
Failsworth War Memorial Committee), refer to the land being 
specifically for the benefit of the inhabitants of a specific area. 
 
If indeed the land had been acquired specifically for the people 
of “the Lower Ward”, of which there is little evidence to suggest 
that this is indeed the case, seeing as though the area is 
predominantly used by residents of Moston and other 
Manchester wards, the transfer of trust status, to two separate 
areas, accessible to larger number of Failsworth residents, was 
thought to be beneficial to the Trust. 
 
3. A significant percentage of the respondents to the recent 
consultation suggested that the land to the North of the 
Lancaster Club was fit for purpose and served as an adequate 
recreational ground – indeed better than those offered by the 
Council in its statutory capacity.  It is therefore questionable as 
to why you are now suggesting that the land to the North of the 
Lancaster Club is not adequate and does not fulfil the intentions 
of the charitable gift. 
 
4. For the reasons stated previously, the Trust would be unsure 
as to why the land would now need to be developed. Page 2



 
5. The limited accessibility of the land to the North of the 
Lancaster Club was something noted by the Trust Committee.  
However, again this stance was challenged by objectors who 
advised that the land was accessible to all sections of the 
community.  The Trust will of course look at the possibility of 
improving access but, in the absence of Trust funds, the 
potential for significant work would be limited. 
 
6. Membership of the Trust committee will be considered as part 
of the considerations arising from the final conclusions of the 
Charity Commission. 
 
7. The pylon is subject to a wayleave agreement.  The amount 
received equates to £46.05 per annum. 
 
8. The Lancaster Club is situated to the South of the Trust land.  
Considering the value of the Lancaster Club site, it is thought to 
be unrealistic that the Trust could either afford to purchase or 
find the necessary revenue to fund a social club or visitor centre.  
Should the Trust be successful in raising any funds, the main 
focus is likely to be concentrated on improving drainage, 
increasing accessibility etc. 
 
9. The Committee is aware that, under the provisions of the 
Section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972, the Council is 
obliged to receive best consideration for any land sold.  
Consequently, in the event that the Trust thought it prudent to 
approach the Council, it is likely that any acquisition of the circa 
6 acres of land would have to be acquired on a commercial 
basis.  In the absence of any Trust funds, this proposal is again 
thought to be unrealistic at this time. 

5   MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING   

RESOLVED - That the minutes of the meeting held on the 25th 
August 2010 be approved as a correct record. 

6   LAND AT FAILSWORTH LOWER MEMORIAL PARK   

The Cabinet sub Committee gave consideration to a report of 
the Executive Director, Economy, Places and Skills, the purpose 
of which was to provide Members of the Committee with an 
update in respect to Failsworth Lower Memorial Park which is 
held upon a registered charitable trust. 
The Borough Solicitor advised Members at a meeting of the 
Trust Committee, 25th August 2010, it was resolved that it was in 
the best interests of the Trust to dispose of the asset in lieu of 
two replacement recreational grounds held by the Council in its 
statutory capacity. A further, adjoining area of land, which 
currently formed the formal Lower Memorial Park area, was 
registered within a charitable trust on 19 January 2011 
(reference 1139908). 
 
The Trust was advised that following the resolution of the 
Committee, Officers of the Council made an application for an 
Order to allow the land swap to continue. The Charity 

Page 3



Commission responded on the 1st February 2011 and failed to 
give the necessary consent to authorise the land swap, but did 
give the Trust the opportunity to make further representations.  
Further information was resubmitted to the Charity Commission 
on the 15th February 2011, and officers were informed that the 
information along with the original application would be dealt 
with under the decision review process of the Charity 
Commission. 
 
Members noted the updated position and the agreed to convene 
a further meeting of the Trust once the decision of the Charity 
Commission was known.  
 
The trust also considered a recommendation that the meetings 
should be held quarterly provided the Chair agreed that there 
was sufficient business to consider. Councillor J Hulme 
suggested that the Trust should agree this recommendation as 
to convene a meeting of the Trust without sufficient business to 
consider was a costly and time consuming exercise. 
 
Option/Alternatives  
None. Once the Charity Commission had formed a view under 
the review process, the Trust would consider the necessary 
actions at that time. 
 
RESOLVED: That: 

1. The Members of the Committee noted the contents of 
the report and approved the actions taken. 

2. That the Terms of reference be amended to provide 
that meetings would be held quarterly provided the 
Chair agreed there was sufficient business to 
consider. 

 
The meeting started at 5.00pm and closed at 5.15pm 

 

Page 4



 

 

 
 
 
THE FAILSWORTH TRUST COMMITTEE 
 

 
Land to the North of the Lancaster Club, 
Broadway, Failsworth 
 

Report of Executive Director, Economy Place and Skills 
 

 

 

30 August 2011 
 

Officer Contact : Elaine McLean 

Ext. 4002 

 
 
 
 
Purpose of Report 
The purpose of the report is to seek; 
- Confirmation as to whether the Trust wish to ask the Charity Commission to 

continue to make an Order in respect to the land immediately to the North of the 
Lancaster Club and; 

- Authority for Oldham Council to procure and enter onto the Trust land in order to 
carry out site investigations. 

 
Recommendations 
It is recommended that the Trust; 
- Provide consent for Oldham Council and / or its contractors to enter onto the 

‘Trust’ land to carry out site investigation works.  It is recommended that the 
permission is given subject to an acceptable licence being granted and on the 
strict condition that a copy of the site investigations are made available to 
Members of the Trust Committee to inform future decisions on the land. 

 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 6

Page 5



Page 2 of 5 [trust – post cc decision VERSION2.doc] [17 August 2011] 

 
 
 
Failsworth Trust Committee [30 August 2011] 
 
Land to the North of the Lancaster Club, Broadway, Failsworth 
 
1 Background 
 
1.1 The Charity Commission registered the land immediately to the North of the 

Lancaster Club (as shown edged red on the attached plan – Appendix One) 
within a specific charitable trust on 24 June 2010.  The purpose of the Trust 
was to provide a recreational ground and the charity was registered under 
charity number 1136597. 

 
1.2 At a meeting of the Trust Committee on 25 August 2010, in view of third party 

interest in the land, the suitability of the asset was considered.  At the meeting 
it  was resolved that, in order to better fulfill the intentions of the Trust, it was 
in the best interests of the charity to dispose of the asset in lieu of two 
replacement recreational grounds held by the Council in its statutory capacity. 

 
1.3 Following the resolution, the Trust submitted an application for an Order – a 

document which would have allowed the land swap to take place. 
 
1.4 On 1 February 2011, the Charity Commission responded to the application, 

advising that, based on the information submitted, they were of the opinion 
that the proposal was not ‘expedient in the interests of the charity’ and 
therefore would not be prepared to make the Order.  However, in providing 
this response, the Charity Commission did give the Trust opportunity to make 
further representation and additional information was subsequently submitted 
on 15 February 2011. 

 
1.5 On 24 March 2011, officers were informed that the additional information, 

along with the original application, would be treated under the Charity 
Commission internal review process. 

 
2 Current Position 
 
2.1 On 4 August 2011, officers received correspondence from the Charity 

Commission which advised that, following an internal review, they would allow 
an Order to be made, subject to claw-back provisions.  A copy of the Decision 
Review is attached to this report (as Appendix Two). 

 
2.2 To satisfy the basis upon which the Charity Commission would make an 

Order, it would be necessary for the Trust to notionally sell the subject area of 
land (as shown edged red on the attached plan) to the Council in its statutory 

Page 6



Page 3 of 5 [trust – post cc decision VERSION2.doc] [17 August 2011] 

capacity and use the proceeds to acquire two separate areas of land (at 
Warwick Road and Vale Lane) owned by the Council in its statutory capacity 
which would then become subject to charitable status. 

 
2.3 As a slight aside, the Council have recently unveiled proposals to purchase 

and develop the adjoining Lancaster Club site and, as part of the due 
diligence into the acquisition, site investigation works are due to be 
undertaken shortly.  In order to benefit from possible economies of scale, it 
has been proposed that the Trust allow the Council and / or its contractors to 
enter onto the land to the North and carry out similar investigation works.   

 
2.4 In the event that the Trust no longer wish to proceed in asking the Charity 

Commission to make an Order – and instead choose to retain the charitable 
trust status on the land to the North of the Lancaster Club - upon receipt of the 
site investigations, the Trust would be able to appraise and assess the 
feasibility of upgrading the land. 

 
2.5 The Committee is reminded that, for circa 40 years, the majority of the asset 

was used for tipping purposes and therefore, the ability for the land to be 
improved and used for additional recreational uses might be limited.  The 
receipt of detailed site investigations would therefore help to inform this 
process. 

 
3 Options/Alternatives 
 
3.1 The options potentially available to the Trust would be; 
 

- Continue to pursue a land swap with the Council (in its statutory 
capacity) and ask the Charity Commission to make the Order. 

- Delay the decision on whether to proceed with the Order until the result 
of the site investigations have been made available and the ground 
conditions of the Trust land are fully known. 

- No longer proceed with the land swap and seek Trust funds to improve 
the retained asset. 

- No longer proceed with the land swap and do nothing, allowing the land 
to remain in its naturalised state, fully acknowledging the results of the 
recent consultation. 

- If the Trust adopts the ‘do nothing’ approach, it would not be necessary 
to carry out any site investigation work. 

 
4 Preferred Option 
 
4.1 It is proposed that the Trust Committee considers each of the options 

available and makes a decision which is felt to be in the best interests of the 
Trust. 

 

Page 7



Page 4 of 5 [trust – post cc decision VERSION2.doc] [17 August 2011] 

5 Consultation 
 
5.1 None. 
 
6 Financial Implications  
 
6.1 Not applicable. 
 
7 Legal Services Comments 
 
7.1 The Trustees must always act in the best interests of the charitable trust. 
 
7.2 As the trust is not in receipt of significant funds, any site investigations must 

be carried out at the Council’s expense, with the Council bearing all legal 
costs and surveyors’ fees. 

 
7.3 Any licence for third parties to enter onto the land must contain the usual 

indemnities, to protect the Trustees, and provide for the land to be restored to 
its original condition. 

(Ron Beedle) 
8 IT Implications 
 
8.1 None. 
 
9 Property Implications 
 
9.1 Property implications have been addressed in the main body of the report. 
 
10 Environmental and Health & Safety Implications 
 
10.1 The receipt of intrusive site investigations would allow the Trust to better 

understand any environmental or health and safety implications of the 
previous tipping uses on the surrounding land and Moston Brook. 

 
11 Equality, community cohesion and crime implications 
 
11.1 None. 
 
12 Equality Impact Assessment Completed? 
 
12.1 No. 
 
13 Key Decision 
 
13.1 No.  
 

Page 8



Page 5 of 5 [trust – post cc decision VERSION2.doc] [17 August 2011] 

14 Forward Plan Reference 
 
14.1 N/A 
 
15 Background Papers 
 
15.1 The following is a list of background papers on which this report is based in 

accordance with the requirements of Section 100(1) of the Local Government 
Act 1972.  It does not include documents which would disclose exempt or 
confidential information as defined by the Act : 

 
 File Ref :  
 Name of File : Lancaster Club 
 Records held in Economy Place and Skills Directorate, Rm 310, Civic Centre 
 Officer Name : Mark Prestwich 
 Contact No : 1660 
 
16 Appendices  
 
16.1 Appendix 1 - Plan. 
16.2 Appendix 2 – Decision Review. 
 

Page 9



Page 10

This page is intentionally left blank



Economy, Place and Skills Directorate
Oldham Council
Civic Centre
Level 3
West  Street
Oldham
OL1 1WR

Appendix 1

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of
Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes
Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Oldham MBC Licence
No. LA 0100019668. 2009

17:08:11 Scale:  1:2000

LB

PDI

Drawn by:

Drawing no:

Division:

Date:

Economy, Place and Skills Directorate

Appendix 1

B
R

O
A

D
W

A
Y

91.6m

P
a
th

5
7

6
9

Football Pitch Football Pitch

93.3m

92.5m

96.0m

B
R

O
A

D
W

A
Y

94.9m

94.6m
Bowling GreenBowling GreenBowling Green

D
ra

in

Path

Playground

P
A

R
K

 A
V

E
N

U
E

3
2

PC

1
6

Park

Lower Memorial

Tennis Courts

Moston Brook

1
9
2

1
3
1

1
4
3

1
1
9

T
H

E
 F

A
IR

W
A

Y

2
0
2

Path

P
a
th

2
1
4

16

1
5
3

Def6

2
2
8

1
6
5

2

2
4
0

P
a
th

P
a
th

P
a
th

2
3
2 1

6
7

Def

3
5

Bowling Green

2

P
a
th

4
7

D
ra

in Bowling Green

ETL

Path

D
ra

in

D
ra

in

Sub Sta

Allotment GardensAllotment GardensAllotment Gardens

PathPathPath

P
a
th

P
a
th

P
a
th

P
a
th

P
a
v
ilio

n

El

95

70

2
4
2

E
l 
S

u
b
 S

ta

3
8

D
e
f

D
e
f

D
e
f

Path
Path
Path

1
8
1

25
6

Boro Const & Met Dist Bdy

Boro Const & Met Dist Bdy

Boro Const & Met Dist Bdy

Path

2

Def
Def
Def

M
ost

on B
ro

ok

M
ost

on B
ro

ok

M
ost

on B
ro

ok

L
IN

D
R

IC
K

 C
L
O

S
E

1

7

P
at

h
P
at

h
P
at

h

195

1
6

D
ra

in

Drain

Lancaster Sports and Social Club

1
9

C
S

Boro
 C

onst 
&

M
et

 D
is
t B

dy

P
a
th

Scrap Yard

Path
Path
Path

Pat
h

Sports GroundSports GroundSports Ground

1
7
0

1
1
7

DALMAHOY CLOSE

3

1

1
8
0 2

4

8

1
0

28

E
T

L

M
U

IR
F

IE
L
D

 C
L
O

S
E

M
U

IR
F

IE
L
D

 C
L
O

S
E

M
U

IR
F

IE
L
D

 C
L
O

S
E

89

153

Telephone Exchange

Warehouse

Garage

Page 11



Page 12

This page is intentionally left blank



1

Land at Failsworth Lower Memorial Park
(Registered charity number 1136597)

Decision Review

1. Definitions

1.1. The Act – the Charities Act 1993
1.2. The Charity – the charity known as ‘Land at Lower Failsworth Memorial 

Park’ and registered with the Commission under charity number 1136597  
The objects of the Charity are ‘for the purposes of a recreation ground only’1

1.3. The Commission – the Charity Commission for England and Wales
1.4. Connected Person – has the meaning set out at Schedule 5 of the Act and 

includes a charity trustee or trustee for the charity
1.5. FTC – Failsworth Trust Committee – a Cabinet sub-committee of three OBC 

Councillors established by the Trustee to act on behalf of the Trustee with 
regard to the administration of the Charity

1.6. Independent Advisory Committee – an independent committee 
established to advise the FTC with regard to the Land, comprised of four 
independent members of OBC’s Standards Committee and/or Audit 
Committee

1.7. The Land – that land at Lower Failsworth Memorial Park which is held in
trust for the Charity 1

1.8. OAFC – Oldham Athletic Football Club
1.9. OBC – Oldham Metropolitan Borough Council
1.10. The Trustee – OBC in its capacity as sole trustee of the Charity

2. The issue

2.1. The Commission has been asked to make an Order authorising the 
disposal by the Trustee of part of the Land to OBC.

2.2. The Commission’s consent is required because the disposal of part of the 
Land to OBC would be a disposal to a Connected Person and within the 
restrictions set out in s.36 of the Act (see Annex B: The Regulatory 
Framework).

3. The decision 

3.1. The Commission is satisfied that despite the Land being held on trusts to be 
used as a recreation ground forever, the Trustee has power to dispose of it 
(or part of it) by way of a swap for land of equal or greater financial value 
and amenity value in respect of that purpose if the Trustee properly 
considers this is in the best interests of the Charity. 

3.2. Before it recognised that the Land is held on charitable trusts, OBC (in its 
statutory (local authority) capacity) considered proposals to dispose of the 
Land to OAFC in connection with the development of a new football stadium 
(see also paragraphs 4.2 – 4.3 below).  When the Land was identified as 
being held on charitable trusts OBC, in recognition of its status as Trustee 
of the Charity and the different decision making framework that therefore 
applied, put in place processes to ensure that it managed the inherent 

1
The Commission considered in a separate decision review whether the Land is held on 
charitable trusts and concluded that “the Land is held by [OBC] as trustee on trust to hold it 
as a public recreation ground forever”.  See further Annex B.

Page 13



2

conflicts between its two roles and that it acted, in its capacity as Trustee, 
solely in the best interests of the Charity.

3.3. The Commission is satisfied that the powers and functions of the Trustee 
have been properly delegated to the FTC and that the FTC has authority to 
act in the administration of the Charity on behalf of the Trustee.

3.4. In the opinion of the Commission, the Trustee (acting through the FTC) has 
demonstrated that in making the decision to dispose of the Land and to 
apply for the requisite Order it:

! acted in good faith;

! managed conflicts of interest appropriately;

! adequately informed itself;

! took all relevant factors into account; and,

! did not take any irrelevant factors into account.  
3.5. In so doing, the Commission is satisfied that the Trustee arrived at a 

decision which it believes to be in the best interests of the Charity.  The 
Commission is also satisfied that the decision to proceed with the disposal 
is within the “range of reasonable decisions”2 open to the Trustee.

3.6. In light of paragraphs 3.1 to 3.5 above and the proposal for an overage 
clause set out in paragraph 3.7 below, the Commission is satisfied that the
proposed disposal of part of the Land by way of a land swap is “expedient in 
the interests of the Charity”2 and has accordingly decided to make an Order 
to authorise the disposal of part of the Land.

3.7. The Order authorising the proposed disposal of part of the Land will require 
the Charity to include an ‘overage clause’ in the contract for the land swap. 
The Commission understands that the Trustee has an in principle 
agreement with OBC as to the overage provision that should apply.  The 
Commission would emphasise that, as part of the Trustee’s duty to act in 
the best interests of the Charity, it must negotiate the overage provision 
solely in the interests of the Charity.  The Trustee must also be satisfied that 
any provision adopted represents a reasonable agreement as to the share 
of any increase in value of the Land and/or proceeds arising from the Land 
(through its future development) that is to be secured for the Charity.

3.8. This decision has been made on behalf of the Commission by the Head of 
the Large Charities Division, Beryl Hobson, and constitutes the 
Commission’s final decision on this matter. 

4. Background

4.1. The Charity is registered with and regulated by the Commission. OBC is 
the sole trustee of the Charity.

4.2. For some time before the Commission’s involvement, OBC (in its capacity 
as a Local Authority) and OAFC had been in discussion about possibly 
developing some or all of the Land for a stadium for OAFC and a new 
shopping centre. During this process it was identified that the Land might be 
held on charitable trusts.  OBC made an application to the Commission for 
the Land to be registered as a charity and the Charity was registered on 24 
June 2010.

4.3. When it realised that the Land was held on charitable trusts, OBC 
recognised that any disposal of the Land would be governed by the 
applicable provisions of the Act, in particular s.36.  In the case of a disposal 
of the Land by the Charity to OBC, it was recognised that the Trustee could 
not dispose of the Land without first obtaining an Order from the 

2
See Annex B.

Page 14



3

Commission. It was also recognised that in its capacity as the Trustee, OBC 
(acting through the FTC) would need to make a fresh decision as to 
whether to proceed with the land swap, such decision to be made solely in 
the best interests of the Charity (which is concerned only with furthering the 
Charity’s purpose as a recreation ground for the public benefit). 

4.4. In its capacity as Trustee, OBC asked the Commission in September 2010 
for authority to dispose of 8.62 acres of the Land to OBC in its statutory 
(local authority) capacity.  In return, it was proposed that the Charity would 
be given other land at Warwick Road and Vale Lane which currently 
belongs to OBC in its statutory capacity.  In February 2011, the Commission 
decided not to authorise the proposed disposal of the Land and OBC 
subsequently asked the Commission to review its decision. 

4.5. In accordance with the Commission’s Decision Review process3, the 
Commission reconsidered whether it should authorise the disposal, taking 
into account any new information which was relevant.  

5. The test for the Commission

5.1. In considering whether to authorise the proposed disposal by way of Order 
the Commission is required to act within the legal framework set out at 
Annex B.

5.2. In arriving at a decision to authorise the disposal the Commission must be 
satisfied that:

! the disposal is “expedient in the interests of the Charity”;

! the Trustee’s view is that the disposal is in the best interests of the 
Charity; and

! the Trustee’s decision to proceed with the disposal is within the range of 
reasonable decisions that the Trustee could make.

5.3. Charity trustees are under a duty to act in the best interests of their charity. 
However the test for the Commission when making a s.36 Order is different. 
To make the Order requested the Commission need only be satisfied that 
the disposal is “expedient in the interests of the charity”.  There may be 
several options which could properly be said to be in the interests of the 
charity.

5.4. To determine whether the disposal is “expedient in the interests of the 
Charity”, the Commission must consider whether the Trustee made a valid 
decision to proceed with the disposal:-
5.4.1. Did the Trustee act within its powers?
5.4.2. Did the Trustee act in accordance with its procedures in deciding to 

proceed with the disposal and to apply for the requisite Order from 
the Commission?

5.4.3. Did the Trustee comply with its duties in making these decisions?  In 
particular:

! Did the Trustee act in good faith?

! Did the Trustee take sufficient account of all relevant factors in 
reaching its decision (and disregard any irrelevant factors)?

! Did the Trustee deal appropriately with any conflicts of interest?

! Did the Trustee adequately inform itself?

! Are the decisions within the range of reasonable decisions which 
the Trustee could make?

3
See the Commission’s guidance on the decision review process at:
www.charity-commission.gov.uk/Library/about_us/decision_review.pdf

Page 15



4

6. Consideration of the issues raised / applying the legal test

6.1. Power to dispose of the Land

The Commission is satisfied that the Trustee can rely on a statutory power4

to dispose of the Land provided that the disposal proceeds (as planned) by 
way of a swap for land are of equal or greater financial and amenity value.  
See Annex B for further details.

6.2. The Trustee's decision making process:

6.2.1. As OBC is the sole trustee of the Charity, it was necessary to put in 
place processes to enable it to handle the inherent conflicts in 
making a decision to swap the Land for other land held by OBC in its 
statutory capacity.  This was all the more important as OBC in its 
statutory capacity had already formed a view that disposing of the 
Land was in the interests of the authority. 

6.2.2. OBC’s legal advice recommended that an Independent Advisory 
Committee be established to advise the FTC.  It was suggested that 
this be comprised of independent persons from OBC’s Standards 
and/or Audit Committee.  It was agreed that the Independent 
Advisory Committee should consider the matters relating to the 
administration of the Charity and the use of the Land and make 
recommendations to the FTC.  

6.2.3. At its meeting on 14 July 2010 OBC delegated its powers as Trustee 
of the Charity to the FTC.  The FTC would be comprised of three 
Members of the Cabinet, two of whom were not Members of the 
Cabinet when discussions relating to the Land were previously 
considered.  The FTC was given the authority to act in the 
administration of the Charity on behalf of the Trustee and the ‘legal 
capacity to make and implement decisions in its own right without 
the need for ratification by the Council’.  OBC agreed that decisions 
of the FTC were to be binding on both the FTC and OBC.

6.2.4. The officers of OBC advised the Commission that only Cabinet 
Members can be Members of a Cabinet sub-committee.  At the time, 
the Cabinet was formed of a coalition of Liberal Democrats and 
Conservative Councillors so the FTC could only comprise members 
from these political parties. 

6.2.5. The terms of reference for the FTC contained the statement ‘The 
Failsworth Trust Committee will at all times act in the best interests 
of the Trust and in accordance with the provisions of the Charities 
Act 1993’.

6.2.6. The terms of reference also indicated that agendas and papers 
would be issued to members of the FTC at least five working days 
before any meeting.

6.2.7. At its first meeting on 30 July 2010, the FTC considered a written 
report asking it to review the proposals for the future use of the Land 
and to consider whether or not it would be in the best interests of the 
Charity to proceed with the possible land swap.  The report included:

! background information;

4
s.6 Trusts of Land and Appointment of Trustees Act 1996.

Page 16



5

! details of six possible alternative sites, and recommendation of a 
preferred option if a land swap went ahead (Medlock Vale/ Vale 
Lane and Warwick Road/ land to the rear of Leicester Road);

! details of the public consultation regarding the future use of the 
Land;

! comments on the financial implications, based on two valuations 
which were included as appendices;

! a copy of the circular by the Failsworth Residents Action Group 
opposing the plans;

! a reference to the findings of the Independent Advisory 
Committee, which had recommended that it would be in the best 
interests of the Charity for the land swap to proceed as it would 
be the most effective way of achieving the continuing purpose of 
providing public recreational facilities in the Failsworth area and 
protecting and enhancing the value of the Charity’s assets.  
Indeed, one of the members of the Independent Advisory 
Committee considered that a swap of just one site in exchange 
for the Land, rather than two would have been satisfactory;

! reference to guidance issued by the Commission which outlined 
the duties of a trustee and guidance on dealing with property 
transactions.  This guidance was attached as an appendix.  

6.2.8. At the first meeting of the FTC on 30 July 2010, following a lengthy 
public question submitted by a local resident, the members of the 
FTC who were present5 agreed that they wanted more time to 
consider all the options for the future use of the Land, including 
retention of the current site (this issue had been raised separately by 
a member of the public in an email to Councillor Masud, Chair of the 
FTC).  It was agreed that the FTC would reconvene at a later date to 
enable full consideration of all the issues raised.

6.2.9. The FTC met again on 25 August 20106.  A similar report to that 
presented to the July meeting was submitted by officers of OBC.  It 
also included a copy of the question from the member of the public 
and a letter in response from the OBC’s Executive Director, 
Economy Place and Skills.  This letter addressed the concerns 
raised and made particular reference to the original Conveyance.  It 
addressed the question that had been raised about the beneficiaries 
of the land being the people of Lower Failsworth by stating that this 
was not referred to in the Conveyance or the 1923 minutes of 
Failsworth UDC.7

6.2.10. At the meeting on 25 August, the FTC members agreed to proceed 
with an application to the Commission for permission to proceed with 
the land swap, which they considered was in the best interests of the 
Charity.

6.2.11. The minutes relating to the meetings outlined above are limited in 
that they do not detail the discussion leading to the decision making 

5
One member of the FTC had declared a conflict in respect of the consideration of the 
disposal of the Land to OBC and had absented herself from this part of the meeting – see 
para 6.3.5

6
See footnote 5 – the same member again absented herself in respect of the discussions 
concerning the possible disposal of the Land.

7
See Annex A

Page 17



6

by the FTC members (the Commission has been advised by OBC 
that they are in line with normal local government governance 
arrangements). It was not possible therefore for the Commission to 
determine the full extent of discussions about the issues from the 
documents alone.  

6.2.12. It was therefore necessary to ask for further information from the 
members of the FTC, who advised us that:
! They had considered the option of retaining the Land

(particularly as this has been put to them as an option by a 
member of the public).  However the evidence in favour of the 
land swap seemed to them to be overwhelmingly in the best 
interests of the Charity – the reasons for this included improved 
recreational facilities for the people of Failsworth, increased 
asset value for the Charity, and the fact that the Land is 
contaminated, so affecting its recreational potential.

! They had considered the two valuation reports included in the 
report, both of which indicated that the asset base of the Charity 
would be increased by the land swap, both in terms of the size of 
the land that would be held by the charity and in terms of its 
value.

! They had considered the recommendation of the Independent 
Advisory Committee.

! They had considered who were the beneficiaries of the Charity 
and concluded that this was ‘the people of Failsworth’8.  They felt 
that the new sites were more centrally located within Failsworth 
and therefore more accessible to a greater number of 
beneficiaries.

! Two consultation events had been held, which were publicised 
by way of posters, a formal public notice and press release in the 
Oldham Evening Chronicle. There had been two consultation 
meetings (both based on the local Partners and Communities 
Together (PACT) group’s meetings). Both were accessible as 
they were held in district centres, the regular meeting places for 
OBC business. One of the consultations was in Failsworth and 
was held from 2pm to 8pm.  The other was in Chadderton, from 
2pm to 5pm.  The Commission was advised by a member of the 
FTC that this was considered to be the ‘less relevant’ meeting as 
Chadderton is approximately 1.25 miles from the Land. Most 
residents gravitated towards the district centre in Failsworth that 
was approximately 1,000m away from the Land.

! The possible disposal was also covered on OBC’s website,
providing the option to respond to the consultation online.

! They had considered the adequacy of the public consultation 
meetings and concluded that these had been situated in 
locations and held at times which meant they could be accessed 
by the majority of people in Failsworth.

! They had considered the concerns of the objectors about the 
removal of recreational facilities from the current location, which 
is why they had determined to retain 3.13 acres of land in the 
current location.  They considered that this amount of land would
seem suitable for the recreational use for which the Land was 

8
It had been suggested to the FTC that the beneficiaries of the Charity were the people of 
Lower Failsworth.  However the FTC disagreed with this – see paragraph 6.2.9 above.

Page 18



7

used (primarily dog-walking).  They also pointed out that there is 
a significant amount of other open land close to the Land which 
could be used by these residents.

! They felt that the proposed land swap was in best interests of 
the Charity regardless of the proposal to develop the Land for 
OAFC and confirmed that the Charity would seek to proceed 
with the land swap regardless of the position regarding OAFC.

! The issue regarding responsibilities of trustees had been drawn 
to their attention by the Borough Solicitor, the pre-meeting 
reports and also by a member of the public.   The reports 
provided to them had a copy of the Commission’s guidance on 
this subject attached.

! One of the issues raised with the Commission in the 
representations was that the consultation exercise was 
inadequate in terms of both the location and time of the events.  
However, the Trustee (acting through FTC) had no obligation to 
publicly consult on the proposals regarding the Land.  Section 
36(7) of the Act allows for no public notice to be given when 
designated land is being replaced (as is the proposal here).
Equally, the Commission understands that OBC when acting in 
its capacity as charity trustee is not bound by any local authority 
rules that might otherwise require public consultation in respect 
of certain decisions.  However, in making a decision trustees 
need to ensure that they have adequately informed themselves.  
One way of doing this is by undertaking consultation with 
beneficiaries and other stakeholders.  The members of FTC 
indicated that in their view and experience, and given who they 
thought were the beneficiaries of the Charity, the consultation 
was adequate and provided sufficient opportunity for the Trustee 
to be adequately informed of public opinion with regard to the 
disposal of the Land.  One of the concerns that had been raised 
in the consultation – the loss of recreational facility particularly 
for dog walking – had been addressed in the proposal to retain
3.13 acres of land.  

6.3. Conflicts of interest

6.3.1. The issue of conflicts of interest for local authorities acting as sole 
trustee for a charity is well recognised and guidance is provided on 
the Commission’s website9.

6.3.2. OBC has demonstrated to the Commission that it received external 
legal advice from Counsel about how to manage conflicts.  

6.3.3. As outlined in paragraph 6.2 above, OBC, in its capacity as Trustee 
of the Charity, created the FTC to exercise the functions of the 
Trustee in the administration of the Charity and to enable it to deal 
with the inherent conflict of interest.  The aim was to create a sub-
committee where none of the members had previous involvement 
with OBC's two previous decisions taken on the Land. Councillors 
Masud (who had only recently been appointed to the Cabinet), Knox 
(who had voted on one of the two decisions), and Hulme (a new 

9
Available at:
www.charitycommission.gov.uk/Charity_requirements_guidance/Specialist_guidance/Local
_authorities/default.aspx#1

Page 19



8

Cabinet member) were appointed as the members of the FTC.  All 
other Cabinet members were considered to be conflicted, having 
been involved in the previous decisions.

6.3.4. Councillor Hulme was new to the Cabinet in May 2010 and therefore 
was not a decision maker on the previous Cabinet decisions 
regarding the disposal of the Land. In advance of the first meeting of 
the FTC, Councillor Hulme had taken advice on whether he should 
declare a conflict of interest because he had been the Conservative 
group leader in OBC when in opposition (before the Liberal 
Democrat – Conservative coalition). In his role as group leader he 
had attended a meeting between OAFC and the three political party 
group leaders.  Councillor Hulme did not express his own personal 
views at this meeting but was purely a messenger for the 
Conservative group as a whole.  This meeting was before the local 
elections (when the Liberal Democrats were in power). He was 
advised that he did not have a material conflict which would prevent 
him voting or forming part of the quorum for FTC matters.

6.3.5. On the advice of Counsel, Councillor Knox left the FTC meetings 
when the proposed land swap was discussed because it was 
considered that she was conflicted as she had previously voted on 
one of the previous decisions regarding the Land made by OBC.

6.3.6. The paper presented to OBC on 14 July indicated that advice had 
been provided by Counsel that ‘no decision shall be taken without 
consideration of advice and recommendations from the independent 
person as to what action is in the best interest of the Charity’.  In 
addition to the advice from two chartered surveyors on the value of 
the land, it was proposed that independent persons on the 
Standards and/or Audit Committee would be asked to form an 
Independent Advisory Committee to advise the FTC. These were 
independent people who were not Councillors or employees of OBC. 
The independent members produced a report that included the 
valuations. They considered whether to keep the existing site and 
reviewed the proposed sites. They also visited the site. Their advice 
to FTC was that it was in the best interests of the Charity to swap 
the Land in order to further the Charity’s objects of recreational use.

6.3.7. The officers of OBC, acting on behalf of the FTC, told the 
Commission that before the meetings of 30 July and 25 August the 
members of FTC received a briefing from the Executive Director and 
Borough Solicitor on the duties of trustees.  This was confirmed 
verbally to the Commission by Councillors Masud and Hulme

6.3.8. OBC also advised that OBC Councillors, in common with Councillors 
in local government, were aware of conflicts of interest in the course 
of their day to day work, and the issue was at the front of their minds 
in all their dealings.   OBC and a member of the public had made the 
members of the FTC aware of the Commission’s guidance. 

6.3.9. The Trustee had initially obtained a valuation report from the District 
Valuer. It subsequently decided to commission a second 
independent valuation as it was considered that a report by the 
District Valuer might not be considered sufficiently independent.  
Both reports were provided to both the Independent Advisory 
Committee and the FTC.

Page 20



9

7. Conclusion 

7.1. Having considered all the information before it:
7.1.1. The Commission was satisfied that the Trustee’s conclusion that the 

new land was of greater financial value and more suitable for 
furthering the purpose of a public recreation ground was reasonable 
on the information it had seen. As a result it was satisfied that the 
Trustee has the power to swap the Land for the new land.

7.1.2. The Commission concluded that the Trustee had the power to 
dispose of the Land by swapping it for replacement land and that the 
FTC had the power to make the decision under its delegated powers 
from the Trustee and to apply to the Commission for the requisite 
Order.

7.1.3. The Commission concluded that the Trustee had taken sufficient 
account of all relevant factors in reaching its decision (and 
disregarded any irrelevant factors).

7.1.4. The Commission was satisfied that the Trustee adequately informed 
itself before taking the decision.

7.1.5. The Commission was satisfied that it was reasonable for the Trustee 
to conclude that the beneficiaries of the Charity are the inhabitants 
of the district of Failsworth, not the inhabitants of the area previously 
known as ‘Lower Failsworth’. 

7.1.6. The Commission was satisfied that the FTC did consider other 
alternatives, including taking no action, but this was considered not 
to be in the best interests of the Charity.

7.1.7. It is clear to the Commission that OBC and the members of the FTC
were aware of the potential for a conflict of interest and managed it 
in an appropriate manner.

7.1.8. The Commission saw no evidence of the decision being made 
otherwise than in good faith.

7.2. Having considered the issues outlined above, and having given careful 
consideration to the representations which were made10, having considered 
the legal test for expedience and the relevant provisions of the Act, and 
having considered the Commission’s public law duties as they are relevant 
to this decision11, the Commission was satisfied that the Trustee’s decision 
that the swap is in the best interests of the Charity is within the range of 
reasonable decisions the Trustee could make. The Commission as a result 
concluded that the disposal is expedient in the interests of the Charity and 
that it would make a s.36/26 Order to authorise it.  As noted at paragraph 
3.7, the Order will include a condition requiring that the contract governing 
the land swap should include an overage clause in respect of the potential 
increase in value of the Land (and/or proceeds arising from the Land) by 
way of any future development.

7.3. Section 89(2) of the Act gives the Commission power to publicise an Order 
which has been made.  The Commission does not intend to use this power 
in this case.  Whilst the issue has been high profile in the Failsworth and 
Oldham area, there have been two opportunities for the public to make 
representations to the Commission, and these representations have been 
given due consideration and weight.  It is unlikely therefore that any further 

10
See Annex A.

11
See Annex B.

Page 21



10

representations would raise any new issues that need to be considered. It 
would not, therefore, be a good use of the resource of the Commission nor 
of the Charity should the Commission exercise its power to require it to 
publicise the Order.

7.4. This decision will be sent to the Trustee and all the parties which made 
representations to the Commission.

8. The review process

8.1. The decision review process included:
8.1.1. A review of the representations made by OBC on behalf of the 

Trustee to the Commission in support of their original application for 
an Order.

8.1.2. A review of the subsequent representations made by OBC on behalf 
of the Trustee.

8.1.3. A review of the 96 representations received from objectors to the 
proposed land swap in the period October 2010 to February 2011.  
Similar representations had also been put to the Commission when 
the Charity was registered.

8.1.4. An opportunity for OBC to make further representations to the 
Commission as to why authority for the disposal should be given.  
This was done at a meeting between the decision reviewer and 
three officers of OBC and their legal advisor on Friday 1 April 2011. 

8.1.5. A similar opportunity to speak to the decision maker was extended 
to those persons who had previously submitted their representations
to the Commission.  Those who had previously contacted the 
Commission were invited to ring Beryl Hobson on Wednesday 25 
May and Friday 27 May 2011.  The correspondence indicated that 
their previous written representations would be taken fully into 
account and it was only necessary to contact the reviewer again if 
there was any point they thought may be unclear or any additional 
points to add.  Seven people took advantage of this opportunity, 
including four people who had not previously written but had heard 
about the issue from someone else.

8.1.6. A telephone conversation between the decision reviewer and the 
two members of the FTC, Councillors Masud and Hulme, who had 
made the decision on behalf of the Trustee to proceed with the 
disposal.

8.2. At the end of each meeting or telephone call the Reviewer asked if those 
making representations had provided everything they thought relevant to 
the Commission.

8.3. The process between OBC applying for a decision review and this decision 
being made took longer than the Commission’s usual standards for such 
reviews.  At the meeting on 1 April, OBC explained that the issue of the 
Land and possible redevelopment was a local political issue.  In light of the 
pending local elections on 5 May, the Commission (following OBC’s 
request) took the decision to take no further action (such as inviting further 
representations) until after the election period.

8.4. A summary of the representations from OBC as Trustee and those opposed 
to the proposed land swap are attached as Annex A.

Page 22



11

9. Recommendation

9.1. Consideration of this case, in particular the quality of decision making by the 
FTC, has not been assisted by the minutes produced following FTC 
meetings.

9.2. The executive of OBC has explained that the style of the minutes is in line 
with the standard for local government – i.e. Councillors receive substantial 
reports setting out the various options, and their final decision is reported in 
the minutes.  This means that the minutes are simply a record of the 
decision, rather than a description of how the decision was made.  This has 
created a particular difficulty in this case where it has been necessary to 
establish exactly what issues were taken into consideration, and how the 
FTC members arrived at their decision.  

9.3. We would recommend that the Trustee should consider making more 
comprehensive minutes for issues relating to charity matters.

Page 23



12

ANNEX A: The Representations

A summary of the representations made on behalf of the Trustee and by members of 
the public opposed to the proposed land swap are shown below:-

1. Representations made on behalf of the Trustee

1.1. The Land is not fit for purpose as a recreation ground.
1.2. Financially, the Land is valued at £60,000 – the land to be swapped is 

valued at £172,000 (the combined value of two plots).
1.3. The FTC on behalf of the Trustee met validly and decided that the disposal 

is in best interests of Charity. 
1.4. There is land immediately adjacent to the Land that can be used for 

recreational purposes and OBC will be safeguarding this land.
1.5. There is possible contamination of (and therefore liability issues with) the

existing Land.
1.6. OBC consulted the Charity’s beneficiaries on the land swap.
1.7. The land swap would double the size of land held by Charity and would 

allow for a greater range of uses. 
1.8. OBC managed conflicts by appointing the FTC and the Independent 

Advisory Committee.  The advisory committee was independent and 
recommended that the land swap would be in the best interests of the 
Charity. The conflicted member of the FTC sat out of discussions 
concerning the disposal of the Land.

1.9. 3.13 acres of the Land will be retained by the Charity and made available 
for recreational use in accordance with the purposes of the Charity. 

1.10. The replacement land is more centrally located within Failsworth and thus 
more easily accessible to a greater section of the beneficiaries of the 
Charity.

1.11. The Charity’s beneficiaries are the inhabitants of the whole of Failsworth. 
1.12. The Trustee did consider retention of the Land.
1.13. OBC was well aware of the distinction between acting in its statutory

capacity and acting as the Trustee. 
1.14. FTC deferred a decision on the disposal of the Land in order to have the 

opportunity to fully consider all relevant factors and to be better able to take 
the views of the beneficiaries into account. 

1.15. Prior to the first FTC meeting, Councillor Hulme took legal advice from the 
Borough Solicitor on a specific possible conflict of interest and was advised 
that he was not conflicted. 

1.16. OBC took appropriate, independent professional advice both regarding the 
Land (and the possible replacement land) and regarding issues such as 
conflicts of interest and the duties of charity trustees.

1.17. OBC considered the amenity value of the respective pieces of land.
1.18. OBC considered a sale direct to a developer (this was not a realistic option 

because of the difficulty that would have arisen in purchasing suitable 
alternative land for recreational purposes within the Failsworth area).12

1.19. OBC identified the positives and negatives that would result from the 
disposal.

12
OBC, on behalf of the Trustee, also noted that where a surveyor prepares a report in 
connection with a proposed disposal of charity land that is governed by s.36 of the Act, the 
surveyor has to make a specific statement advising that the charity in question should seek 
planning permission in respect of the land, if it is felt that will secure best value for the 
charity.  No such comment was made in this case.

Page 24



13

1.20. In accordance with the advice as set out in the surveyors’ reports, OBC 
obtained the best terms reasonably obtainable for the Land.

1.21. OBC, on behalf of the Trustee, and following the advice of Counsel, 
specifically asked the independent surveyor whether a more robust overage 
agreement could or should be sought on behalf of the Charity with respect 
to the possible future development of the Land.  The surveyor advised that 
the overage proposed was sufficient given the remediation issues that 
would need to be addressed before the Land could be developed.

1.22. FTC members went on site visits to the Land and the land to be swapped.

Page 25



14

2. Representations from members of the public

The public representations could be grouped into four main categories:-

2.1. Charity Land was given as a gift:

! The Land was bought by donations given by the people of Failsworth

! The Land was not bought by OBC

! Donors wishes should be respected, and green space preserved

! The Land was donated as a memorial for fallen soldiers in WW1 – there 
is a moral issue to not betray the donors and soldiers

! The proposed swap does not reflect the gift

! The proposed land swap is not in the spirit of the law or the original gift

The Commission has considered these views in the light of the objects of 
the Charity, the beneficiary group and the legal framework (see paragraph 
6.1).

2.2. OBC decision making:

! The public consultation on the land swap by OBC was not adequate

! The consultation occurred before local residents were aware that it was 
happening

! OBC’s first consultation was inadequate – there was short notice of 
meetings, meeting were held during working hours

! The FTC does not represent local people

! OBC does not make the relevant information publically available

! The members of the Independent Advisory Committee that considered 
the proposed land swap are not accountable

! The FTC does not seem to make its own decisions

! The Land has been valued too cheaply

! OBC are conflicted and are not acting in the best interests of the Charity

! The FTC has not met frequently enough

! Claims that a deal between OBC and OAFC has already been done

! Manchester residents live close to the site but were not consulted as 
they are not in Oldham borough

! The members of the Independent Advisory Committee were not actually 
independent (no substantial evidence provided)

These issues were considered by the Commission in determining whether 
the Trustee had made a reasonable decision regarding the best interests of 
the Charity – (see the whole of paragraph 6).

2.3. Effect on beneficiaries:

! The proposed new sites would be too far away from residents and no 
one would go

! Access would be difficult – there is no public transport to reach the new 
sites

! Land would be taken from local beneficiaries

! The proposal would impact on allotments

! The Warwick Rd site is less suited to recreation. The Woodhouses land 
is isolated with no public transport links

Page 26



15

! There is little public space in Failsworth compared to the rest of the 
Oldham Borough so this park should be retained

! Major roads need to be crossed by local residents to reach the new 
locations – this is unsafe for the old and young

! Local residents enjoy the park’s open space

! The Land is the only open, natural land in the local area and is used for 
recreation

! The land swap would affect more residents of Manchester than of 
Oldham

The Commission is satisfied that the beneficiary group had been considered 
and the effect on the beneficiaries had been taken into account (see 
paragraph 7).  See also the consideration of impact on the Commission of 
the “public sector equality duty” at Annex B.

2.4. Planning issues:

! Local residents do not want a football club (or stadium development) so 
close to their homes

! There are already two large local football clubs

! Local residents enjoy the park’s open space

! The Land is the only open, natural land in the local area and is used for 
recreation

! Local residents purchased their homes for peace and quiet - the land 
swap would allow a football stadium to be built

! The land swap would affect more residents of Manchester than of 
Oldham

! Any development of the Land would affect the residents’ lifestyle and 
the local wildlife

! The land could become part of a proposed local country park (Moston 
Brook)

! The park is long established

! The development would impact on other local parks

These concerns relate to planning issues, which are outside the remit of the 
Commission and not relevant to this decision of the Commission.

Page 27



16

ANNEX B: The Regulatory Framework 

1. Legal framework

1.1 Disposals of “charity land”13 are governed by the Act.  In particular, s.36 of 
the Act imposes certain restrictions on disposals, including where a disposal 
is to a Connected Person.  In such cases, a proposed disposal will often 
need to be authorised prior to completion by an Order of the Commission.  
(There are some circumstances in which an Order would not be required, 
but these do not apply here).  Accordingly, when a charity requests an 
Order authorising the disposal of land the Commission must decide whether 
it is appropriate for an Order to be made.14

1.2 Before deciding to authorise a disposal of charity land, the Commission 
must be satisfied that the disposal is “expedient in the interests of the 
charity”.

1.3 If an Order is made, the Commission has a statutory power to either give 
public notice “of the making or contents of the Order”, or require the 
applicant to do so (see s.89(2) of the Act).

1.4 Section 13(4) of the Act (in conjunction with Schedule 3) provides a power, 
in specified circumstances, for a Scheme to be made to alter the purposes 
of a charity by enlarging the area of benefit specified in its trusts.  One of 
the specified areas of benefit that can be so enlarged is “any area in a 
district” which can be enlarged by way of Scheme to (amongst others) “the 
district”.  The Commission is not making such a Scheme in this case; 
however s.13(4) demonstrates Parliament’s view that, in appropriate cases, 
enlargement of a charity’s area of benefit can be a suitable basis on which 
to amend a charity’s purposes.

2. Commission’s regulatory interest

2.1 In exercising its powers under s.36 (as with the exercise of any of its other 
powers) the Commission must act (so far as is reasonably practicable) in a 
way that is compatible with its statutory objectives and which it considers 
most appropriate for meeting those objectives.  The Commission’s statutory 
objectives include:

! Increasing public trust and confidence in charities;

! Promoting the effective use of charitable resources; and

! Enhancing the accountability of charities to donors, beneficiaries and 
the general public.

13
“charity land” means land in England and Wales held by or in trust for a charity.

14
In some cases where, as here, the land being disposed of must be used for the purposes of 
the charity, the charity trustees are obliged to give public notice of the proposed disposition 
and take account of any representations made (see s.36(6) of the Act).  Here however, the 
disposal is being made with a view to the acquisition of replacement property.  In such 
cases the obligation to give public notice does not apply (see s.36(7)).

Page 28



17

3. Commission’s policy on disposals of charity land

3.1 The law and the Commission’s policy and practice in relation to charitable 
land disposals are explained in the Commission’s operational guidance 
‘OG54: Disposals of Charity Interests in Property’ and publication ‘CC28: 
Sales, leases, transfers or mortgages’ which are available at the 
Commission’s web site15.

3.2 To assist in the application of the legal test, the Operational Guidance 
states, as policy guidance, that the Commission’s power under s.36 of the 
Act should only be used to authorise a disposal where the trustees:

! Have understood the professional advice they have received (for 
example, the surveyor's report);

! Have looked at and understood any powers or restrictions contained in 
the charity's governing document;

! Know what they are disposing of;

! Can make the case that the disposal is in the best interests of the 
charity;

! Have obtained the best terms for their charity that they can reasonably 
achieve in the circumstances; and

! Have managed any conflicts of interests.

3.3 The Commission’s policy, whilst a guide to the application of the Act, must 
not and has not unreasonably fettered the proper exercise of discretion in 
the making of this decision.

4. Trusts on which the Land is held

4.1 Prior to receipt of the application for an Order to dispose of the Land, the 
Commission considered the trusts on which the Land is held when 
considering the application for the registration of the Charity.  As part of this, 
the Commission reviewed the Conveyance pursuant to which the Land was 
acquired.  The Conveyance states that the Land is to be held on the 
following basis:

“To hold the same unto and to the use of the Council in fee simple as to the 
first described premises for the purposes of a Recreation Ground only”

4.2 Having examined the Conveyance and the other evidence before it, the 
Commission concluded that the Land is held by OBC as Trustee on 
charitable trusts for use as a public recreation ground for ever. The decision 
was finely balanced but the balance of probability pointed towards charity as 
the Land was purchased with moneys raised by charitable appeal and the 
intention was clearly that it be held as a public recreation ground as a war 
memorial for generations to come.

4.3 The Conveyance is silent as to the beneficial class. The charitable appeal 
was to the people of Failsworth and the legal title to the Land was held by 
Failsworth Urban District Council. The Land is described as both Lower 
Memorial Park and Lower Ward Recreation Ground, Failsworth.  These 

15
See:
http://www.charity-commission.gov.uk/about_us/ogs/index054.aspx
http://www.charity-commission.gov.uk/Publications/cc28.aspx

Page 29



18

descriptions could equally be of the geographical location of the Land as of 
the intended beneficiaries of the Charity.  At the time of the Conveyance the 
Commission understands that there were two wards within the Failsworth 
district known respectively as Higher and Lower Failsworth Ward.

4.4 The legal ownership of the Land is now vested in OBC (as Trustee), OBC 
being the successor body of Failsworth Urban District Council.  The 
Commission understands that Higher and Lower Failsworth Wards are no 
longer applicable descriptions of statutory areas.

4.5 The Trustee has considered who are the beneficiaries of the Charity and 
has concluded that they are the people of Failsworth. The Commission does 
not have jurisdiction to reach a conclusion as a matter of law on this issue. 
As the Conveyance is silent, and in light of the factors set out above, the 
Commission concluded that the Trustees’ decision in this regard is 
reasonable.

5. Charity’s power to dispose of the Land

5.1 The governing document of the Charity is the 1924 Conveyance pursuant to 
which OBC acquired title to the Land.  The Conveyance does not contain 
any general power for the Trustee to dispose of the Land.  Further, the 
general powers of OBC to deal with its local authority property do not apply 
to the property such as the Land, which OBC holds on trust.

5.2 Section 6 of the Trusts of Land and Appointment of Trustees Act 1996
provides a general statutory authority for the disposal of land held in trust.  
This is not available generally where land is held for a specific purpose 
“forever”, as in such cases the sale of the land would in effect require 
changing the trusts on which the land is held.16

5.3 However, where as here, land held on trust is being swapped for alternative 
land to be used for the same purpose, the statutory power at s.6 may be 
available provided that the replacement land is as or more suitable for the 
purposes for which it is held and is of equal or greater financial value (or a 
diminution in financial value can be justified by an increased amenity 
value).17  This power is also not available where the qualities of the land is 
itself the subject matter of the trust such as a historic house or land of 
outstanding natural beauty, but this is not the case for the Land.

5.4 In this case, the Trustee has concluded (on the basis of appropriate 
professional advice) that the proposed replacement land is of greater 
financial value than the Land and is more suitable for the purposes of a 

16
The statutory power will also not be available where the character or attributes of the land 
itself are integral to the purposes for which the land is held – for example, a historic house 
or an area of outstanding natural beauty.  This is not the case in respect of the Land.  
Although it was suggested that the Land has a special status as a war memorial (see Annex 
A), there is nothing integral to the Land which makes it more suitable as a memorial than 
either of the alternative sites which are proposed to be within the land swap.  Further, it 
appears that a physical war memorial was in fact constructed from the same fund with 
which the purchase of the Land was funded, but this is not located at the Land.

17
The court confirmed this power to swap land in Oldham Borough Council v Attorney 
General (1993) Ch 210.

Page 30



19

recreation ground.  Accordingly the Trustee can rely on the statutory power 
as authority for the proposed disposal (provided that it proceeds by way of 
the land swap as planned).

6. Human Rights

6.1 The Commission has a responsibility under s.6 of the Human Rights Act 
1998 (‘HRA’) not to use its powers in a way that is incompatible with 
‘Convention rights’18.

6.2 The Commission therefore gave careful consideration to the Convention 
rights in considering the exercise of its powers in this case.  For the reasons 
set out below, the Commission is satisfied that in making this decision it has 
not acted, in a manner which is incompatible with Convention rights.

6.3 To determine whether a decision is compatible with Convention rights 
involves firstly identifying the Convention rights that may be affected.  It is 
then necessary to identify the persons whose rights may be engaged and, 
in the case of qualified rights, consider whether any interference with those 
rights is a proportionate means of achieving a legitimate aim.

6.4 The Commission considers that the proprietary rights set out at Article 1 of 
the First Protocol to the Convention may be engaged by this decision.  
Article 1, Protocol 1 states:

“Every natural or legal person is entitled to the peaceful enjoyment of his 
possessions.  No one shall be deprived of his possessions except in the 
public interest and subject to the conditions provided for by law…  The
preceding provisions shall not, however, in any way impair the right of a 
State to enforce such laws as it deems necessary to control the use of 
property in accordance with the general interest…”

6.5 The natural or legal persons who have possessions that might be said to be 
affected by this decision are in the opinion of the Commission:

! Those who object to the land swap and/or the beneficiaries of the 
Charity; and

! Those who own property adjoining the Land, who might argue that the 
decision devalues their property.

6.6 In respect of the first category, the Commission noted that individual 
persons do not have any general or freestanding legal right to benefit from a 
charity.  The manner in which benefits are conferred is within the discretion 
of the charity trustees (subject to the trusts of the charity and provided that 
the trustees act reasonably).  The Commission noted that in relation to the 
Charity, the beneficiaries are the inhabitants of Failsworth.  These persons 
will in general, as a result of this decision and the consequent land swap 
benefit from a larger, more suitable and more valuable area of land for use 
as a recreation ground, with the potential for an additional fund of money in 
relation to the possible development value of the Land.  A piece of the Land 
is also being retained for ongoing use as a recreation ground.  The 
Commission therefore concluded that its decision to authorise the disposal 

18
“Convention rights” means the particular rights and freedoms of the European Convention 
of Human Rights specified at s.1 HRA.

Page 31



20

did not interfere with the Convention rights of the beneficiaries of the Charity 
or of those persons who have objected to the land swap proposal.

6.7 In respect of the second category of persons, the Commission noted that its 
decision to authorise the disposal of the Land does not provide authority for 
any change of use of the Land (that would be a decision of the planning 
authority).  Nor is it an inevitable consequence of the Commission’s 
decision that the Land will no longer be used as a recreation ground.  
Accordingly the Commission concluded that its decision does not interfere 
with the Article 1 Protocol 1 rights of adjoining owners, as its decision does 
not deprive such persons of their possessions (or diminish the value of 
those possessions).

6.8 If the Commission is wrong in its conclusion that its decision does not 
engage rights protected by Article 1 Protocol 1, the Commission notes that 
the Article is not an absolute right and does not “impair the right of a State 
to enforce such laws as it deems necessary to control the use of property in 
accordance with the general interest”.  The statutory framework of s.36 of 
the Act sets out Parliament’s view as to how the public interest should be 
protected in the context of disposals of charity land.  It is implicit that s.36 is 
deemed (by the UK government) to be a necessary means of controlling the 
use of such property in accordance with the general interest.

6.9 In terms of the Commission’s exercise of its powers under s.36, the 
Commission’s view is that making the requested Order is a “proportionate 
means of achieving a legitimate aim”.  The Commission noted that s.36 of 
the Act gives power to the Commission to authorise disposals of charity 
land to Connected Persons.  The “legitimate aim” in deciding to authorise 
the disposal here is to give effect to the overriding principle that it is for 
charity trustees to make decisions in the best interests of their charity (that 
is, furthering the purpose of their charity for the public benefit).  Provided 
that the Commission is satisfied that a decision by a charity to seek 
authority for such a disposal has been lawfully made and falls within the 
range of reasonable decisions the charity trustees could make, the 
Commission should authorise it.  This decision sets out in great detail why 
the Commission is satisfied on these points.

6.10 It is also a legitimate aim for the Commission to promote the most effective 
and efficient use of charitable resources19.  In this case the Trustee has 
concluded that this would be best achieved by swapping part of the Land for 
land of greater recreational use and financial value.  The Trustee has also 
recognised the need for an overage agreement and the Order made will be 
conditional on the incorporation of an overage clause in the contract 
governing the land swap.

6.11 The Commission’s decision is to authorise the Trustee’s decision to dispose 
of part of the Land.  This decision of the Trustee is one that the Trustee 
could not make without the authorisation of the Commission (or the Court) 
as it is a disposal of the Land to itself in another capacity (its capacity as 
local authority).  The Commission’s decision is that the disposal of part of 
the Land is “expedient in the interests of the Charity” and is not a decision 
as to what would or might be in the best interests of the Charity as 

19
See further the Commission’s specific statutory objective in this regard at s.1B(3)4 of the 
Act.

Page 32



21

previously explained (which is a matter for the Trustee). The Commission’s 
decision is also not a decision to dispose of the Land, nor is it a decision 
about the use to which the Land will or should be put once disposed of to 
OBC.

7. Equalities Act

7.1 In making this decision the Commission has also been mindful of the “public 
sector equality duty” set out at s.149 Equality Act 2010 (‘EA’).  This requires 
public bodies such as the Commission to have due regard to the need to:

! Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the EA;

! Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and people who did not share it; and

! Foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and people who do not share it.

7.2 In particular, the Commission has considered in this regard the submissions 
made by some members of the public (see further Annex A paragraph 2.3) 
that:

! The proposed new sites would be too far away from residents and no 
one would go;

! Access would be difficult – there is no public transport to reach the new 
sites; and

! Major roads need to be crossed by local residents to reach the new 
locations – this is unsafe for the old and young.

7.3 In light of these submissions (and the other information available), the 
Commission has considered the possibility that the land swap could have a 
particular adverse impact on persons with one or more protected 
characteristics - for example, persons living near the Land who (by reason 
of a protected characteristic) have limited mobility and who would 
accordingly find it difficult to access the replacement land.

7.4 However, in deciding how best to provide benefits through the resources of 
the Charity, the Trustee must consider all potential beneficiaries, i.e. all the 
inhabitants of the Failsworth District.  Whilst the land swap might make it 
particularly difficult for some beneficiaries with protected characteristics to 
access the Charity’s land, it is equally the case that beneficiaries with the 
same protected characteristics, not living near to the Land, will experience 
the same disadvantage under the existing arrangements.  Taking the 
beneficiary group as a whole, no evidence has been put forward to suggest 
that persons with protected characteristics will be particularly disadvantaged 
by the land swap.

7.5 In this regard it is also important to note that the Charity will retain over 
three acres of the Land for ongoing recreational use.  This will help to 
ensure that persons living near the Land still have access to recreation 
ground space.  Equally, as noted at paragraph 4.7 of this Annex B, the 
Commission’s decision does not provide authority for any change of use of 
the Land and it is not inevitable that the disposal of the Land will result in 
that part of the Land that is swapped being put to an alternative use.

Page 33



22

7.6 Subject to the paragraphs above, the information put to the Commission by 
both OBC and others making representations has not suggested that the 
Commission’s decision to authorise the disposal will have a particular 
impact on persons with one or more protected characteristics.  Equally, it is 
not apparent that the decision will have a greater or lesser effect (than a 
decision not to authorise), on (for example):

! Removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their 
protected characteristics;

! Meeting the needs of people with protected characteristics;

! Encouraging people with protected characteristics to participate in public 
life or in other activities where their participation is low; or

! Tackling prejudice and promoting understanding between people who 
share a protected characteristic and others.

7.7 The Commission is accordingly satisfied that this decision (and the decision 
making process that has been followed) is consistent with the public sector 
equality duty.

Page 34


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	6 Land to the North of the Lancaster Club, Broadway, Failsworth
	Appendix One.pdf
	Appendix Two.pdf


